1955

National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Co. v. Leland J. Thompson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This action arose under a fire insurance policy issued by the plaintiff covering certain property located on a tract of land in Box Elder County, Utah. The insurance was intended to cover a frame dwelling, used as a garage, for \$2,000; an Allis Chalmers tractor for \$2,000; and an Allis Chalmers combine for \$2,000. (Exhibit P-3). The premium for the policy was \$23.00 and the insurance was to run from October 26, 1951, to October 26, 1952.

On or about the 26th day of October, 1952, the defendant renewed the policy for the period from October

26, 1952, to October 26, 1953. On November 8, 1952, the foregoing property was destroyed in a fire (R. 1-6). On the 21st day of January, 1953, pursuant to a proof of loss filed by the defendant (Exhibit P-2 and D-14 and 15), the plaintiff paid to the defendant the sum of \$2,000, which was represented to be the value of the frame building. There was some question concerning the identity of the Allis Chalmers tractor and combine and no payment was made for these items at that time (Tr. 88-89).

During the course of the investigation concerning the identity of the combine and tractor, it was discovered that the defendant had sold the frame building prior to the date of the fire, which sale the company had not been informed of at the time the \$2,000 was paid (R. 89-90). It was further discovered that at the time the insurance was originally procured the defendant was not the owner of the building and had certain encumbrances upon the other property of which he had not advised the company.

The plaintiff thereupon brought an action against the defendant to cancel the policy of insurance and to recover the \$2,000 which had been paid (R. 1-3). The defendant answered and counterclaimed for the damage to the tractor and combine (R. 6-9). The case was tried to a jury and submitted to them on special interrogatories. On the basis of their answers to the interrogatories, the court entered judgment for the defendant for the damage to the tractor and combine plus interest (R. 72).

As part of its judgment, the court entered a judgment of no cause of action on plaintiff's complaint (R.

72), but specifically found that the value of the frame building at the time of the fire was \$1,000. The court thereupon entered an additional order granting a new trial on the plaintiff's complaint unless the defendant should file his consent that the judgment on the counterclaim should be reduced \$1,000, the consent to be filed within ten days or by 5:00 P.M. on April 23, 1954 (R. 73).

The defendant did not file his consent, and on April 23, 1954, the court ordered a new trial as to plaintiff's complaint, it appearing to the court:

“* * * That said defendant obtained \$2,000 as insurance from plaintiff on the representation that the building was worth the sum of \$2,000, at the time of said fire when in truth and in fact said building was only worth the sum of \$1,000 at that time; and it further appearing that this court, after making a finding to the effect that said building was only worth \$1,000 at the time of the fire, erred by not entering a judgment that plaintiff recover the sum of \$1,000 on its complaint, and it further appearing that the court committed errors at law in the foregoing respects and that the evidence was insufficient to support the judgment, as entered, and other good cause being shown,” (R. 76).

Subsequently various motions were filed by the parties, and on October 13, 1954, the court entered an order amending the findings by striking the finding “that the value of the building at the time of the fire was One Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$1,000.00) only.” The court further vacated its order for a new trial. In its reply to the counterclaim of the defendant, the plaintiff

had admitted that the frame building had a value of \$2,000. The court gave as one of its reasons for setting aside the order for a new trial and amending the findings that:

“The court did not have in mind the fact that the parties, by their pleadings, had stipulated to the value of said structure.”

The questions presented by this appeal are then: Did defendant have an insurable interest in the frame building at the time of the fire? Was the policy of insurance void by reason of defendant's misrepresentation as to his ownership of the building and his interest in the combine and tractor? When the evidence showed that the frame building had a value of \$1,000, could the court enter a finding to that effect? And did the court, having entered an order granting a new trial, err in vacating that order some months later?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

It would appear that the facts can best be presented by covering them in a chronological order.

On September 30, 1947, the defendant acquired the frame building described in the insurance policy under a “Veteran Farm Labor Housing Contract” wherein the Box Elder County Farm Labor Association leased the building to Leland J. Thompson for a consideration of \$225.00 and \$20.00 for the fixtures. The Association was to move the building onto the defendant's farm and the defendant leased to the Association a plot of ground on which the building was to be placed (Exhibit D-4, Tr.

15). On October 26, 1951, the defendant applied to the plaintiff for a fire insurance policy on the frame dwelling, the tractor, and the combine. The application for the insurance was taken by a Nick H. Topik, who testified that the application contained all the information given to him by Mr. Thompson (Tr. 74-75). An examination of the application, Exhibit D-10, reveals that Leland Thompson was represented to be the owner of the frame dwelling, the tractor and the combine. As has been pointed out previously, Leland Thompson did not own the frame dwelling at the time, but it was leased from the Box Elder County Farm Association. Moreover, the defendant had a loan on the tractor from the Farm Home Administration, the original amount of which was \$2,500, of which nothing had been said to the agent (Tr. 74-75), and which did not appear in the application for the fire insurance policy (Exhibit D-10).

The plaintiff issued a fire insurance policy covering the above described building and items of equipment showing Leland J. Thompson as the insured, and not showing any encumbrances on the building or the other items of equipment (Exhibit P-3). The term of the policy was from October 26, 1951, to October 26, 1952. The policy insured each of the items for \$2,000 and contained the provision that the company "does insure: Leland J. Thompson and legal representatives, *to the extent of the actual cash value of the property at the time of loss.*"

The policy contained the further provisions:

"The entire policy shall be void if, whether before or after a loss, the insured has wilfully

concealed or misrepresented any material fact or circumstance concerning this insurance or the subject thereof, or the interest of the insured therein, or in case of any fraud or false swearing by the insured relating thereto.”

And

“The insured shall give immediate written notice to this Company of any loss, protect the property from further damage, forthwith separate the damaged and undamaged personal property, put it to the best possible order, furnish a complete inventory of the destroyed damaged and undamaged property, showing in detail quantities, cost, actual cash value and the amount of loss claimed; and within sixty days after the loss, * * * the insured shall render to this Company a proff of loss, signed and sworn to by the insured, stating the knowledge and belief of the insured as to the following: The time and origin of loss, the interest of the insured and all others in the property, the actual cash value of each item thereof and the amount of loss thereto, all encumbrances thereon, all other contracts of insurance, whether valid or not, covering any of the property, any changes in the title, use, occupation, location, possession or exposures of said property since the issuing of this policy.”

On December 8, 1951, the defendant sold the real property on which the frame building in question was located to John M. Hardy and his wife. (Tr. 17). As to whether the building was to be part of the sale, defendant testified starting on page 23 of the transcript:

“Q. I said did you sell the barracks building which was burned in the fire to Mr. Hardy along with the land on December 18, 1951?”

“A. The house was to go along with the deal, but Mr. Hardy understood that the title wasn’t clear on the building and was to be turned over to him at the time it was cleared up with the Labor Association of Box Elder County.

* * * * *

“Q. You sold your interest in the building to Mr. Hardy at the time you sold the land, didn’t you?

“A. How could I sell it to him until the time I got the deeds to it?

“Q. Well, you sold him what part you owned in it, if anything. Did you own anything in the building at that time?

“A. I didn’t own only my interest in it.

“Q. Did you sell Mr. Hardy your interest at that time, Mr. Thompson?

“A. The only thing I’ll say is that it was to go along with the deal.

“Q. By that do you mean when it was to go along, that Mr. Hardy was to acquire your interest in the deal; is that what you mean?

“A. He was to acquire the building along with the land.”

On that same point, Mr. John M. Hardy testified on page 140 of the transcript:

“Q. Where and when was this barracks building discussed between you as to its being concerned in the deal?

“A. Well, at the time we were dealing on the place.

* * * * *

“Q. Now, what was said with respect to this barracks building?

"A. Well, I had an option of buying it with or without the barracks on.

"MR. HANSON: Bying the land with or without; is that what you mean?

"A. Buying the land with or without the barracks on it, and we done quite a bit of corresponding on that.

"Q. And when the deal was finally consummated, did you take it with or without?

"A. I was to get the building with the place.

"Q. How did you pay for the place?

"A. I assumed a mortgage on it and paid Mr. Thompson for his equity."

As to the price paid for the building, the defendant testified on page 47 of the transcript:

"Q. * * * Now, taking you back again to the time that you had the negotiations with Mr. Hardy about the sale of the property or the land, did Mr. Hardy pay you anything additional for the building other than your equity in the land?

"A. He paid me the price that we agreed on the whole thing.

"Q. Well, just tell me what it was. Did he pay you anything additional for the building over and above the price of the land, and if so how much?

"A. If he hadn't taken the building there was supposed to be a thousand dollars less.

"Q. In other words, he paid you a thousand dollars for the building; isn't that right?

"A. He paid me a thousand dollars for it with the building on, yes."

At the time the frame building was sold, Mr. Hardy gave Mr. Thompson permission to use the building. On that point Mr. Hardy testified beginning on page 140 of the transcript:

Q. Now, then, was anything said about Mr. Thompson's use of that barracks building?

"A. Yes.

"Q. What?

"A. He had his machinery there, and he wanted to use the barracks until he could get his machinery—he was talking at that time of getting another place and to move it up there. I told him it was all right, because I had no occasion to use the building at that time.

"Q. And that was before the deal was consummated; is that right?

"A. That's right."

On page 143 of the transcript, Mr. Hardy testified:

"Q. Now, after you had taken possession of the rest of the place, did Mr. Thompson talk to you any further about holding onto this barracks building longer, or otherwise about it?

"A. Yes, he did.

"Q. Was there any further discussion about that before you closed the deal?

"A. Well, right at the time we were talking about it, and he said he wanted possession. I said I had no occasion to use the building, it was all right at that time for him to go on and use it until he could move the machinery.

"Q. And it was there after you told him that

was all right for him to continue to use it there; was there anything further said at the time you closed the deal?

“A. Not at that time.

“Q. That was the entire deal with respect to the building at that time?

“A. As I remember it. I had no occasion to use the building, and he wanted to use it, and it was perfectly all right with me at that time when we were talking about the deal.”

On cross-examination, Mr. Hardy was asked at page 146 of the transcript:

“Q. If you wanted to make any use of the building other than putting machinery where Mr. Thompson had his, you would have done so, wouldn't you?

“A. Well, as I stated, I had no occasion to.

“Q. If you had occasion, you would have done so?

“A. Yes, but I don't—

“Q. If you had had any reason, for instance, to put some hand tools or to store something in the part of the building not occupied by the machinery, you would have gone down and done it, wouldn't you?

“A. I suppose anybody would have done that.

“Q. You were just allowing Mr. Thompson to keep the machinery in there until it was sold?

“Q. Isn't that so?

“A. That's how farmers works. Sure it is.”

On the question of whether anything was paid for the privilege of storing the equipment in the building, the defendant told John P. Gatfield, the person who investigated this loss, that there was nothing said between Mr. Thompson and Mr. Hardy in respect to any rental or any kind of a charge for this convenience. On or about October 15, 1952, after the defendant had sold the building, the defendant mailed a check for \$19.60 (Exhibit D-7) to the Company with a renewal premium receipt extending the coverage afforded by the policy to October 26, 1953 (R. 41). At the same time, the defendant claims that he mailed a letter (Exhibit D-6) informing the Company that he had sold the building.

Milo M. Jensen, claims manager for the plaintiff, testified that he had examined the file on Mr. Thompson's insurance policy and that he did not find any letters or letter like Exhibit D-6 in the file; that the Company did not know that the building had been sold to Mr. Hardy until the summer of 1953 when they got a report to that effect from the adjusting firm in Salt Lake City telling the Company that they had just learned that Mr. Thompson was not the owner of the building (R. 53). Mr. Jensen testified further that it was the practice of his Company upon receiving such a notice to contact the owner and have him execute an assignment of the policy to the new owner (P-16).

On November 8, 1952, the fire occurred in which the property concerned was either totally destroyed or damaged.

John P. Gatfield testified that he was employed by the Scott Wetzel Company of Salt Lake City as an insurance adjuster and that he investigated this fire loss (Tr. 88). He testified that in the course of his investigation, he had difficulty in correlating the numbers on the equipment with the serial and motor numbers on the insurance policy, but that the claim for the loss of the building itself was paid at the insistence of Mr. Topik and Mr. Thompson (R. 189). He first learned of the sale of the frame building about two or three weeks after the insurance company had issued their draft for \$2,000 through another insurance company in the course of their investigation, the other insurance company having had insurance on a Mack truck which was stored in the building. He then arranged for an interview with Mr. Thompson, in which Mr. Thompson told him that he had sold his farm and that the building had been included in the sale (Tr. 90). At that time Mr. Thompson never mentioned anything about having given notice to the company of the sale of the building (Tr. 91). On January 31, 1953, Leland Thompson received the bill of sale to the frame dwelling from the Box Elder Farm Labor Association (Exhibit D-5). On July 31, 1953, the plaintiff started its action to recover the \$2,000 paid for the frame building and at the beginning of the trial tendered to the defendant the return of the insurance policy premium paid as a renewal of the policy from October 26, 1952, to October 26, 1953 (Tr. 1).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I. THE DEFENDANT DID NOT HAVE AN INSURABLE INTEREST IN THE FRAME DWELLING AT THE TIME THE INSURANCE POLICY WAS RENEWED OR THE LOSS OCCURRED.

POINT II. ASSUMING DEFENDANT DID HAVE AN INSURABLE INTEREST IN THE FRAME BUILDING, THE LIMIT OF HIS RECOVERY FOR THE LOSS THEREOF IS THE ACTUAL VALUE OF THE FRAME BUILDING.

POINT III. THE INSURANCE POLICY WAS VOID BY REASON OF DEFENDANT'S MISREPRESENTATIONS.

POINT IV. THE COURT ERRED IN VACATING ITS ORDER FOR A NEW TRIAL ON PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE DEFENDANT DID NOT HAVE AN INSURABLE INTEREST IN THE FRAME DWELLING AT THE TIME THE INSURANCE POLICY WAS RENEWED OR THE LOSS OCCURRED.

The applicable Utah Statute, *Section 31-19-4, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, provides:

“(1) No contract of insurance on property or on any interest therein or arising therefrom, shall be enforceable except for the benefit of persons having an insurable interest in the things insured.

“(2) ‘Insurable interest’ as used in this Section means any lawful and substantial economic interest in the safety or preservation of the subject of the insurance free from loss, destruction or pecuniary damage.”

We have not been able to find a decision where the

courts have construed the words, “substantial economic interest”.

That an insured must have an insurable interest at the time he takes out a contract of insurance and at the time of loss is basic. Otherwise, the contract, rather than being an agreement to indemnify the insured for any loss he might suffer, becomes a mere gambling contract wherein the assured stands to gain upon the happening of a certain event. As is said in *Volume 4 of Appleman's Insurance Law and Practice*, at page 99:

“The insured must be the owner of the property at the time he takes out the insurance and at the time of loss, by the majority rule, and however defective such allegations of interest may be, they must be proved. Nor can the character of the insured's interest be changed between the date of insurance and the date of loss without the consent of the insurer.

“A fire contract, or other property insurance, is considered a personal contract in that the hazards which the company elects to assume are hazards concerned with the contracting individual—his character, moral qualities, and the like—the insurance running to the individual rather than upon the property. If the insured, then, parts with an interest in the property prior to loss, it is not covered. It is not necessary to have a specific by-laws to the effect that a transfer or sale of the property avoids protection; a sale by the insured between the date of the policy and the date of the loss is considered to avoid protection.”

As we have seen from the evidence the defendant,

Leland J. Thompson, conveyed his entire interest in the frame dwelling, which was the subject of the insurance policy in this case, to John M. Hardy. The most that can be said was that Leland Thompson had permission from Mr. Hardy to keep his equipment in Mr. Hardy's building, which permission could have been withdrawn at any time. No consideration was paid for the privilege.

Did the mere privilege or license to store the machinery in the building constitute a "substantial economic interest," when it was revokable at any time by the owner of the building? Of course, the argument will be made that Leland J. Thompson was the bailee or had possession of the building. This, however, is not borne out by the evidence which shows that the land on which the building was located and the building itself had been conveyed to John M. Hardy and was completely within his possession and control. This is further borne out by the fact that the defendant considered it necessary to secure Mr. Hardy's permission to keep the equipment in the building, and further the evidence shows that Mr. Hardy was free to use the building and to store his own tools and machinery therein.

In *Fidelity & Phoenix Fire Ins. Co. of New York v. Raper*, 6 So. (2d) 513 (Ala.) a sublessee erected a building on land without the permission of the lessor. There was no permission relative to placing improvements on the land. The court held that the building became the property of the original lessor and the person who bought the building from the sublessee had no insurable interest. The court said:

“On these uncontradicted facts, plaintiff, if he had an interest at all, is merely a trespasser or tenant by sufferance; that is to say, the plaintiff had no right which he could enforce so far as the building was concerned and he could have been arrested at any time. He did not even have the right of possession except as a squatter or trespasser would have.

“The law is clear that a person with no interest in land other than that of a tenant by sufferance, or trespasser, has no insurable interest in the property.”

In *Kanefsky v. National Commercial Mutual Fire Ins. Co.*, 35 Atl (2d) 766 (Penn.), where a person was in possession of property under an unenforcible parol contract to convey the property to him, the “unconditional and sole ownership” of the policy in said

“Insurable interest in property imparts an interest which can be enforced at law or in equity.”

In *Price v. United Pacific Casualty Co.*, 56 Pac. (2d) 116, (Ore.), under a burglary policy providing that insurance should apply to all property owned by husband or any permanent member of his household, the husband was held without an insurable interest in a diamond ring, and hence not entitled to maintain an action on the policy for theft of the ring for his own benefit. Says the court:

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