1955

National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Co. v. Leland J. Thompson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

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

Under the evidence, under the findings of the jury and under the law Mr. Thompson at all relevant times

had an insurable interest in the building authorizing him to insure the same and to collect insurance up to the full value of the building. The findings and judgment are correct and should be affirmed.

POINT 2. *The defendant-respondent properly was allowed to retain the \$2,000.00 paid to him by appellant as the value of the building.*

In the second section of its argument the appellant makes the obvious point that the limit of Mr. Thompson's recovery on the policy is the actual cash value of the frame building at the time of loss. This is in accord with the policy and no issue exists between the parties as to that bald statement. However, appellant then illogically and without any basis in fact or law proceeds to a conclusion that Mr. Thompson should refund to appellant \$1,000.00 out of the \$2,000.00 voluntarily paid to him by the company as settlement for his loss of the building. Here the parties again part company.

Appellant declares, and we agree, that Mr. Thompson is entitled to the actual cash value, and then appellant in its reply, formally admits that the *actual cash value* of the building was \$2,000.00. As we have shown, the issue of the cash value of the building and the amount of the recovery was not tendered or tried in this case. As the records show, the appellant all through the trial of the case reiterated that the only issue was the insurable interest of Mr. Thompson. Even after the court and counsel had carefully and after extended conferences worked out the issues of fact to be submitted to the jury, and had reduced them to the interrogatories

which were later propounded, the appellant declared that so far as the counterclaim was concerned the issues of value of the destroyed *machinery* constituted “all there was to it.”

Appellant quotes Rule 15 (b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to the effect that when issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties they shall be treated as if they were raised by the pleadings, and seeks thereby to interject the cash value of the building into the issues when that had been formally removed by a formal admission that the value was \$2,000.00.

We respectfully submit that there is no express or implied consent to try this issue to be found anywhere in the record. True, as we pointed out in our Statement of Facts, some evidence as to value was presented, but this was properly presented and received upon the issue of “insurable interest,” to show that the economic interest of Mr. Thompson was a “substantial” one, as required by the Statute defining the phrase “insurable interest.” For an economic interest to be “substantial,” the interest must have some value which is economic, and an expression of that value in terms of dollars as well as in terms of utility is a proper way to show that the interest is “substantial,” and that the building in fact was an asset, and not just a shack constituting a liability to which no substantial economic interest could attach.

Moreover, just as soon as the trial court, inadvertently overlooking the formal admission of value, drafted

the court's finding of value upon the finding of the jury on the other issues which were tried, Mr. Thompson promptly moved to amend the findings by striking the court's finding therefrom as being beyond the issues of fact tried (R 77-78, Paragraph 2). Appellant in its brief cites authority to the effect that a party impliedly consents to the introduction of issues not raised in the pleadings by failure to object to the admission of evidence relating thereto. However, an examination of the cases cited in support of the text quoted discloses that in all of those cases the evidence admitted without objection was not admissible on any other issue which was already present in the case. Here, as we have pointed out, the evidence in question was admissible on another issue, so that no implied consent could arise either from the failure to object to this evidence or from the presentation of such evidence as bearing on the other issue which was set up by the pleadings and tried.

There was no implied consent to try the issue of the amount of recovery for the loss of the building. Issues should not be broadened to cover facts formally admitted on any such equivocal record as the one here presented by the appellant. To do so would only create great confusion.

However, even if the Court were to decide that the issue had been tried by the implied consent of the parties and that it was proper for the trial court to make a finding thereon, still the finding which the trial court first drafted into the jury's verdict, and then later struck therefrom, is not supported by the evidence. The only

evidence on which the court could base a finding of a value of the building in the sum of \$1,000 was the fact that in the package deal between Mr. Hardy and Mr. Thompson \$1,000 was allowed for the building. However, it must be remembered that under the uncontroverted evidence this was not relevant, material or competent evidence on the issue of the market value of the building for the reason that the sale was one in which *Mr. Thompson was forced to sell against his will to avoid a foreclosure*, and was not a transaction between a willing buyer and a willing seller, neither of whom was compelled to make a transaction. The transaction is not one which is relevant to the fair cash or market value of the building in question under all of the established rules.

See

State, ex rel McKelvey v. Styner, (Idaho)
72 Pac. 2nd 699;

Kansas City and G. Railway Company v.
Haake (Missouri) 53 Southwestern 2nd
891, 84 ALR 1477;

Richer v. Burke (Oregon) 34 Pac. 2nd 317;

Pittsburgh, etc. Railway Company v. Gage
(Illinois) 121 Northeastern 582;

and

Coos Bay Logging Company v. Barclay
(Oregon) 79 Pac. 2nd 672.

On the other hand all of the relevant evidence which might be considered in determining the value of the property is to the effect that the building was reasonably worth more than \$2,000.

Mr. Gatfield, the experienced claims adjuster for the appellant himself determined that the value was in excess of the insurance coverage of \$2,000. The estimates of a carpenter were to the effect that it would take more than \$2,500 to replace the building and the owner was of the opinion that it was of substantial economic value, to-wit, somewhere around \$3,000, even though at forced sale he was willing to sell it for less to avoid the expense of moving it away and to get his money so that he could avoid a deficiency judgment in a foreclosure sale.

It is apparent from the entire record that the appellant considered the issue of fair cash value closed by the pleadings until after the court, through inadvertence and mistake, drafted a finding onto the jury's verdict. Then the appellant immediately and gratefully accepted the trial court's error as manna from heaven and thence hitherto has pursued the matter.

But the fact is that the issue was settled by the pleadings and there is no evidence to justify any different finding even if the matter were to be opened for testimony. The judgment should be affirmed as against this attack.

There is another and additional reason why Mr. Thompson properly was allowed to retain the \$2,000 paid to him as the value of the building. The court will recall from the Statement of Facts that this figure was arrived at by the appellant's adjuster, Mr. Gatfield, before anyone consulted with Mr. Thompson about the value of the building, and the company's representatives made out

the check and sent it to and delivered it to Mr. Thompson without any question whatsoever. Obviously this payment was made voluntarily and if there was any misunderstanding on the part of the appellant the misunderstanding was the result of its own negligence or inattention. Under these circumstances this voluntary payment cannot be recovered.

Slack v. National Bank of Commerce, 9 Utah 193, 30 Pac. 746;

Richey v. Clarke, 11 Utah 467, 40 Pac. 717.

Apparently the court, at the time it inadvertently made the finding of \$1,000 in value, considered that Mr. Thompson's economic interest in the building at the time of the loss was only the amount of the consideration paid on contract to sell some eleven months before. However, this was not the fact. As has been shown by the authorities cited under the previous section, Mr. Thompson was entitled to insure and collect insurance on the entire cash value of the building even though he had in fact been paid. He must still settle with Mr. Hardy for his failure to deliver the building under their agreement, and the indications are that Mr. Thompson may well have to pay Mr. Hardy in excess of \$2,000 when he settles with him, as Mr. Hardy under the Sales Act is entitled not to his money back, but to the value of his bargain, which under the evidence may be as high as \$3,000.

After further and mature consideration the trial court very properly allowed Mr. Thompson to retain the full \$2,000 paid him by the appellant.

POINT 3. *The defendant-respondent made no misrepresentation, and the policy is valid.*

Appellant contends that the policy was void because of certain misrepresentations listed by appellant on page 25 of its brief.

This is essentially the defense of fraud. It is well established that one asserting that the making of a contract, particularly a written contract, was induced by fraud must establish such fact by clear and convincing evidence, and that if the evidence is not clear and convincing, a mere preponderance of the evidence is not sufficient.

17 CJS CONTRACTS, Section 605, Pages 1257-8;

Hanson v. Mutual Finance Corporation, 84 Utah 579, 37 Pac. 2nd 784;

Wiley v. First National Bank, 257 Northwestern 214.

Where such a defense is interposed to an insurance contract the rule formerly was in Utah that every element of fraud, including the element of intent to deceive and defraud, must be proved by the person asserting such fraud, on whom the burden of proof as above outlined rests.

New York Life Insurance Company v. Grow, 103 Utah 285, 135 Pac. 2nd 120.

However, in 1947, that rule was modified by statute. *Section 31-19-8, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, in effect provides that where misrepresentation has been shown, the burden shifts to the insured to show that the misrepresentation

sentation was not made with intent to deceive. However, the burden is still upon the plaintiff in this case to show, *by clear and convincing evidence*, that the misrepresentations alleged were in fact made and that they were material and that they were in fact relied on.

Moreover, *Section 31-19-8, Utah Code Annotated, 1953*, specifically provides that no oral or written misrepresentation or warranty made in the negotiation of an insurance contract by the insured or in his behalf shall be deemed material "or defeat or avoid the contract or prevent it attaching," unless such misrepresentation is made with the intent to deceive.

The question of the making of misrepresentation as alleged by the plaintiff was tried to the jury and submitted to it by the court. Similarly the question as to whether or not the appellant here relied upon the statements made by Mr. Thompson in the proof of loss in making payment to Mr. Thompson of the sum of \$2,000 was tried to and submitted to the jury by the court. The jury its special verdict found as a matter of fact that no misrepresentations were made as to the ownership of the building or as to the encumbrances on the tractor and this verdict is supported by the evidence as has been shown. Far from establishing misrepresentation by clear and convincing evidence the plaintiff failed to establish it by even a preponderance of the evidence. The jury further found that the fact of the sale of the building was not concealed from or unknown to the plaintiff, and this is in accordance with the evidence that Mr.

Thompson reported that sale in writing received at the appellant's Denver Office and apparently lost by appellant there.

Appellant relies upon a provision in the policy to the effect that the policy should be void if the insured "wilfully" conceals or misrepresents any material fact or circumstance. This clause is directly contrary to the provisions of the statute last quoted and cannot be given any force or effect. But if it were to be given effect, still it will not avail the appellant, for there is absolutely no evidence of any "willful" concealment or misrepresentation. The only incorrect statement ever made by Mr. Thompson to the company was certainly not material. It is contained in the Proof of Loss prepared by appellant and signed by Thompson without reading. It reported a mortgage on the building to the Davis County Bank, when in fact there was no mortgage. The statement as to the value of the building is modest and correct, and even if it were not, it was induced by the appellant's adjuster who arrived at his own value and submitted the proof of claim according to all of the evidence. The most that can be said is that Thompson agreed with the appellant's representatives as to the value. And, as has been said, the jury found on competent evidence that the company did not in any way rely on this representation in making settlement. It relied upon the findings of its own adjuster. Moreover, under the evidence it could not be said that a representation of value at \$2,000 was a willful misrepresentation.

Mr. Thompson has acted honestly and justly

throughout the transaction. He spent money for insurance and he is entitled to the proceeds. The policy is not void for any misrepresentation willful or otherwise.

POINT 4. *The court properly vacated its erroneous order for a new trial on plaintiff's complaint.*

From what has been said heretofore, it is now very apparent that the trial court erred in ordering a new trial unless Mr. Thompson should remit \$1,000 out of the \$2,000.00 paid him in settlement of the insurance on the building. The jury had found that the payment was not obtained by any misrepresentation; it is apparent that the payment was voluntarily made, and the court inadvertently and by mistake made a finding as to the value of the building when that was not an issue before the court. Appellant made no motion for a new trial but seeks now to profit by perpetuating the error of the trial court which the trial court itself in its discretion corrected.

The court itself found that the finding of fact inserted by the court was made and the orders for new trial based thereon entered inadvertently under the erroneous impression that there was an issue of fact to be determined as to the value of the frame structure in question, and that the court did not have in mind the fact that the parties by their pleadings had stipulated to the value of the structure (R 113).

The original orders of the Court granting a new trial were erroneous even if there had been an issue to be tried on the value of the building. There was no reason to subject Mr. Thompson and the State to the ex-

pense and trouble of a re-trial on all issues merely because one issue had been omitted. Even if the orders had been otherwise correct, they should have limited the new trial to the trial of the sole issue of the value of the building, which was the only matter then left undetermined or in doubt so far as the jury or the trial court was concerned. However, as we have seen, the orders were inadvertently entered under a misapprehension as to the state of the pleadings, and within ten day after their entry and the entry of the court's finding as to value which was grafted onto the verdict of the jury, Mr. Thompson moved to strike the court's finding from the verdict of the jury and to vacate the orders for a new trial (R 77-79). At the same time and in the alternative Mr. Thompson moved for an order to limit the new trial to the question of value, but that of course is moot now. Upon reviewing the whole thing and considering extensive written arguments the trial court concluded that it was in error and itself corrected the error and reinstated the judgment and vacated the orders for a new trial.

Perhaps it should also be observed that respondent's motions were filed within ten days after the filing of the findings of fact and judgment.

Now appellant contends that the trial court, having made an inadvertent error, had no jurisdiction to correct it and assigns error to the order of the court correcting its inadvertent error. Appellant in support of that strange position cites authority to the effect that when a motion for a new trial has been *denied* and the

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